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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES )

TRADING COMMISSION ) Case No. SACV10-1876 DOC (RNBX)
)

Plaintiff, )
)
)

V.
) [Proposed] Final Judgment and
AMERICAN BULLION EXCHANGE ) Order of Permanent Injunction,
ABEX, CORP., a California ) Civil Monetary Penalty and Other
corporation, AMERICAN BULLION ) Equitable RelieAgainst Defendants
EXCHANGE, LLC, aCalifornia limited) and Relief Defendants

liability company and RYAN A. )
NASSBRIDGES, ) Hon. David O. Carter

)

Defendants, and )

)

AMERICAN PREFERRED )

COMMODITIES APC CORP., a )

California corporation, R.E. LLOYD )
COMMODITIES GROUP HOLDING )
LLC, a California limited liability )
company and BITA J. NASSBRIDGES,
)

Relief Defendants. )

)
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l. INTRODUCTION

On December 8, 2010, Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (“Commission”) filed a Comjaté (Dkt. #1) against Defendants Ryari
A. Nassbridges (“R. Nassbridges”), Aricam Bullion Exchange ABEX Corp.
(“ABEX Corp.”) and American Bllion Exchange, LLC (*ABEX LLC")
(collectively, “Defendarst”) and Relief Defedants Bita J. Nassbridges (“B.
Nassbridges”), American Preferred Coouities APC Corp. (“APC”) and R.E.
Lloyd Commodities Group Holding LLC (“[E. Lloyd”) (collectively, Relief
Defendants”) for Injunctive Relief, @i Monetary Penlies and Ancillary
Equitable Relief Under the CommodiExchange Act (“CEA”), 7 U.S.C. &t
seg. (2012) and Commission RegulatiofiRegulations”), 17 C.F.R. 814 seq.
(2013).

On August 7, 2014, the Court entereddtsler Granting, In Part, Plaintiff's
Motion for Summary Judgment Against R. Nassbridges and B. Nassbridges (“S
Order”) (Dkt. #278). On S#ember 16, 2014, the Cowmtered its Order Granting
the Commission’s Motion for Defauludgment Against ABEX Corp., ABEX
LLC, APC and R.E. Lloyd (“DIDrder”) (Dkt. #293). In the SJ and DJ Orders, thg
Court made findings of fact and conclusiafidaw, establishinghat from at least
July 2006 through April 2008, the following occurred:

1. Defendants committed fraud and misaggiation, in or in connection
with an offer to enter into, the entrytin the confirmation of, the execution of, or
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the maintenance of commodity futuresnsactions in violation of Sections
4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the CEA, d.S.C. 8§88 6b(a)(2)(A& (C) (2012).

2. Defendants committed fraud and misaggiation, in or in connection
with an offer to enter into, the entrytay the confirmation of, the execution of, or
the maintenance of commodity options sactions, in violation of Section 4c(b)
of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. 8 6¢(b) (2012), aRdgulations 33.10(and (c), 17 C.F.R.
88 33.10(a) & (c) (Repealed June 26, 2012).

3. ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC, whe acting as commodity pool
operators (“CPOs”), and R. Nassbridgehjle acting as an associated person
(“AP™) of ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC,committed fraud and misappropriation, ir
violation of Sections 40(1)(A) and (Bf the CEA, 7 U.S.C8 60(1)(A) & (B)
(2012).

4.  ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC acteas unregistered CPOs, in
violation of Section 4m(1) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. 8§ 6m(1) (2012).

5. R. Nassbridges acted as an unrieged AP of CPOs, ABEX Corp.
and ABEX LLC, in violation of Seatin 4k(2) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2)
(2012).

6. ABEX Corp. and ABEXLLC failed to operate their commaodity pool
as a legal entity separdtem themselves as CPOs, in violation of Regulation
4.20(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a)(1) (2013).

7. ABEX Corp. and ABEXLLC accepted pool funds in the name of
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ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC and not ithe name of their commaodity pool, in
violation Regulation 4.20(b},7 C.F.R. § 4.20(b) (2013).

8. ABEX Corp. and ABEXLLC failed to furnish participants with a
Disclosure Document, in violation &fegulation 4.21, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21 (2013).

9. ABEX Corp. and ABEXLLC failed to furnish participants with
Account Statements, in violation of dation 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.22 (2013).

10. ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC ardiable for its agent’s, R.
Nassbridges’, violations of the CEsd Regulations, pursuant to Section
2(a)(1)(B) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(R012), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R}
§ 1.2 (2013).

11. ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC wer@ngaged in a common enterprise
and are therefore, jointly and severall\pl@for their violations of the CEA and
Regulations.

12. Relief Defendants APC, R.E.ayd and B. Nassbridges received
funds that were obtained as a resulbefendants’ fraudulérconduct and have no
legitimate entitlement to or interest in those funds.

ITISTHEREFORE HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
1.  PERMANENT INJUNCTION

1. Pursuant to Section 6c(a) oktiCEA, 7 U.S.C. 8§ 13a-1(a) (2012),
Defendants are permanently restraineghiaed and prohibited from directly or

indirectly:
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a. in connection with any order to k& or the making of, any contract

of sale of any commodity for futukelivery, or swap, that is made, or
to be made, for or on behalf of, with, any other person, other than
on or subject to the rules of a dgsated contract mket; (A) cheating
or defrauding or attempting to cheatdefraud the other person; . . .
or (C) willfully deceiving or attempting to deceive the other person |
any means whatsoever in regardtty order or contract or the
disposition or execution of any order or contract, in violation of

Section 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C);

. in connection with an offer to emteto, entering into or confirming

the execution of, any transaction involving any commaodity regulate
under the CEA which is of the clzater of, or is commonly known in
to the trade as, an “option”, ctigay or defrauding or attempting to
cheat or defraud another person or willfully deceiving or attempting
deceive another person by any means whatsoever, in violation of

Section 4c(b) and Regulations 33.10(a) and (c);

c. while acting as a CPO, as that terndégined in Section 1a(11) of the

CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(11) (2012), or &R of a CPO, as that term is
defined in Regulation 1.3(aa), 17KCR. § 1.3(aa) (2013), by use of
the mails or any means or instrumtadity of interstate commerce,
directly or indirectly, (A) employingny device, scheme , or artifice
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2.
as CPOs, as that term is defined intldecla(1ll), are also permanently restrained

enjoined and prohibited fno directly or indirectly:

. while acting as an AP of a CPO,that term is defined in Regulation

a. failing to register as CPOs in violation Section 4m(1);

b. failing to operate their pool as antity cognizable as a legal entity

. failing to receive funds, securities ather property from an existing

. failing to deliver or cause to beldered to a prospective participant

to defraud any client grarticipant or prospectév/client or participant;
or (B) engaging in any transactiqgractice, or course of business
which operates as a fraud or decgibn any client oparticipant or

prospective client or participant, unolation of Sections 40(1)(A) and

(B);

1.3(aa), failing to register as an APa CPO in violation of Section
4k(2);

Pursuant to Section 6¢(a), ABEXorp. and ABEX LLC, while acting

separate from that of the CPOsyinlation of Reguléion 4.20(a)(1);

or prospective pool participant for tharchase of an interest or as an
assessment (whether voluntary mvoluntary) on an interest in a pool
that it operates or that it intendsdperate in the name of the pool, in

violation of Regulation 4.20(b);

in a pool that it operates or intertdsoperate, a Disclosure Document
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3.

for the pool prepared in accordanwith Regulations 4.24 and 4.25,
17 C.F.R. 88 4.24 & 4.25 (2013), by later than the time it delivers
to the prospective participant abscription agreement for the pool, in

violation of Regulation 4.21; and

. failing to periodically distribute toaeh participant in each pool that it

operates, within 30 calear days after the last date of the reporting
period, an Account Statement containing the information required
Regulation 4.22, in violation of Regulation 4.22.

Defendants are also permanentistrained, enjoined and prohibited

from engaging, directly or indirectly, in:

a. trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity (as that tef

is defined in Section 1a tiie CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 1a (2012));

. entering into any transactions involving commaodity futures, options

on commodity futures, commodity options (as that term is defined i
Regulation 1.3(hh), 1Z.F.R. § 1.3(hh) (2013} security futures
products, swaps (as that term igiioked in Section 1a(47) of the CEA,
7 U.S.C. § 1a(47) (2012), and as further defined by Regulation
1.3(xxx), 17 C.F.R. 8 B(xxx) (2013)), and/oforeign currency (as
described in Sections 2(c)(2)(Bhd (C)(i) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. 88
2(c)(2)(B) & (C)(i) (2012)) (“forexcontracts”) for their own personal
account or for any account in whittey have a direct or indirect
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interest;

. having any commaodity futures, tipns on commodity futures,

commodity options, security futulsgroducts, swaps, and/or forex

contracts traded on their behalf;

. controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other

person or entity, whether by poweraiforney or otherwise, in any
account involving commodity futuresptions on commodity futures,
commaodity options, security futise@roducts, swaps, and/or forex

contracts;

. soliciting, receiving, or acceptirany funds from any person for the

purpose of purchasing or sellingyacommodity futures, options on
commodity futures, commodity options, security futures products,

swaps, and/or forex contracts;

. applying for registration or claimg exemption from registration with

the Commission in any capacipnd engaging in any activity
requiring such registration or exemption from registration with the
Commission, except as provided fo Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17

C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2013); and

. acting as a principal (as that tersrdefined in Regulation 3.1(a), 17

C.F.R. 8 3.1(a) (2013)), agentamy other officer or employee of any
person (as that term is definedSection 1a) registered, exempted
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from registration or required to begistered with the Commission,
except as provided for iRegulation 4.14(a)(9).
1. CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY

4, R. Nassbridges shall pay a cimbnetary penalty (“CMP”) of
$3,430,000, plus post-judgment interebe(tR. NassbridgesCMP Obligation”),
immediately.

5. ABEX Corp. and ABEX LLC shall paa CMP, jointly and severally,
of $14,790,000, plus post-judgment st (the “ABEX Enterprise CMP
Obligation”), immediately.

6. Post-judgment interest shall beelenined by using the Treasury Bill
rate prevailing on the date of thisd@r pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 (2006).

7. Defendants shall pay their CMP Obligations by electronic funds
transfer, or by U.S. Postal money ordwmartified check, bank cashier’s check, or
bank money order. If payent is to be made other than by electronic funds
transfer, the payment shall be madgagide to the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission and sent to the address below:

Commodity Futures Trading Commission
Division of Enforcement

Attn: Accounts Receivables — AMZ 340
DOT/FAA/MMAC

6500 S. MacArthur Blvd.

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73169
Telephone: 405-954-5644

8. If payment is to be made by etemnic funds transfer, Defendants
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shall contact Nikki Gibson or her successor at the above address to receive
payment instructions and shall fully comply with those instructions. Defendants
shall accompany payment of the penalty vatbover letter that identifies its name
and the name and docket numbethaf proceedings. Defendants shall
simultaneously transmit copies of the coledter and the form of payment to the
Director, Division of Enforcemen€ommodity Futures Trading Commission,
Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21ste8tr NW, Washington, DC 20581, and the
Chief, Office of Cooperative EnforcemeBlivision of Enforcement, at the same
address.
V. DISGORGEMENT

9. B. Nassbridges is ordered toglisge $821,893, plus post-judgment
interest (the “B. Nassbridges Disgongent Obligation”), immediately.

10. APC is ordered to disgorge $110,6plys post-judgment interest (the
“APC Disgorgement Obligtion”), immediately.

11. R.E. Lloyd is ordered to disgge $1,250,000, plus post-judgment
interest (the “R.E. Lloyd Disgorgsent Obligation”), immediately.

12. Post-judgment interest shall be@enined by using the Treasury Bill
rate prevailing on the date of this Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961.

13. To effect payment of the B. Nds#&dges Disgorgement Obligation,
APC Disgorgement Obligation andER.Lloyd Disgorgement Obligation
(collectively, the “Disgorgement Obkgions”) and the distribution of any

10
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disgorgement payments to Defendampiafticipants, the Court appoints the
National Futures AssociatidfiNFA”) as Monitor (“Monitor”). The Monitor shall
collect disgorgement payments from Rebefendants and make distributions as
set forth below. Because the Monitoaiging as an officer of this Court in
performing these services, the NFA smalt be liable for any action or inaction
arising from NFA'’s appointment as Monitor, other than actions involving fraud.
14. Relief Defendants shathake Disgorgement Obligation payments
under this Order to the Monitor in tihame “ABEX Enterprise Disgorgement
Fund” and shall send such Disgorgem®btigation payments by electronic funds
transfer, or by U.S. postal money ordegrtified check, bank cashier’s, or bank
money order, to the Office of Adminration, National Futures Association, 300
South Riverside Plaza, Suite 1800, €igo, lllinois 60606under a cover letter

that identifies the name of the payiRglief Defendant anthe name and docket

number of this proceeding. Relief Defentkashall simultaneously transmit copies

of the cover letter and the form ofypaent to the Chief Financial Officer,
Commodity Futures Trading Commissj Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st
Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581.

15. The Monitor shall oversee the Qrgement Obligations and shall
have the discretion to determine the marofeatistribution of such funds in an
equitable fashion to Defendis’ participants; or magtefer distribution until such
time as the Monitor deems appropriate.the event that the amount of

11
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Disgorgement Obligation payments to the Monitor are d# lainimis nature such
that the Monitor determines that the adrsirative cost of making a distribution to
Defendants’ participants is impractical, the Monitor may, in its discretion, treat
such disgorgement payments as CMinpents, which the Monitor shall forward
to the Commission following the instructions for CMP payments set forth in Pai
l1l., above.

16. Relief Defendants shatixecute any documents necessary to releasg
funds that they have @ny repository, bank, investment or other financial
institution, wherever located, in orderrtake partial or total payment toward the
Disgorgement Obligations.

17. Within thirty (30) days of receiving this Final Judgmheany financial
institution, including any Futures Conmsaion Merchant (“FCM”), holding funds
in the name of the Relief Defendantsspecifically directed to liquidate and
release all funds, whetheretlfunds are held in a single or joint account, or any
other capacity, and to convey by wire s&ar to an account designated by the
Monitor, all funds in these accountsss any amounts required to cover the
financial institutions’ outstanding administrative or wiransfer fees. At no time
during the liquidation, release, and/or wire transfer of these funds pursuant to t
Final Judgment shall Relief Defendants be afforded any access to, or be provic
with, any funds from these accounts. iBeDefendants and atlanks and financial
institutions subject to this Final Judgment shall cooperate dinitlyexpeditiously

12
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with the Commission and the Monitor irethquidation, release, and wire transfer
of these funds.

18. The Monitor shall provide the Comssion at the beginning of each
calendar year with a report detailing thisbursement of funds to Defendants’
participants during the previous year. elMonitor shall transmit this report under
a cover letter that identifies the nammelalocket number of this proceeding to the
Chief Financial Officer, Commoditlfutures Trading Commission, Three
Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st StredW, Washington, D.C. 20581.

19. The amounts payable to each off®@wlants’ participants shall not
limit the ability of any of Defendants’ pigcipants from proving that a greater
amount is owed from Relief Defendantsaory other person or entity, and nothing
herein shall be construed in any wayioit or abridge the rights of any of
Defendants’ participants that exismder state or common law.

20. Pursuant to Federal Rule of @ifProcedure 71, each of Defendants’
participants who suffered a loss igécitly made an itended third-party
beneficiary of this Order and may seeletdorce obedience of this Order to obtair
satisfaction of any portion of the disgongent that has not been paid by Relief
Defendants to ensure contimueompliance with any provisn of this Order and to
hold Relief Defendants in contempt for anglations of any provision of this
Order.

21. To the extent that any funds accrue to the U.S. Treasury for

13
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satisfaction of Relief Defend#s’ Disgorgement Obligations, such funds shall be
transferred to the Monitor for disbursemanticcordance witkhe procedures set
forth above.

V. MISCELLANEOUSPROVISIONS

22. Partial Satisfaction: Any acceptance by the Commission or the

Monitor of partial payment of DefendantSMP Obligations oRelief Defendants’
Disgorgement Obligations shall not beedeed a waiver of Defendants’ and/or
Relief Defendants’ obligation® make further payments pursuant to this Final
Judgment, or a waiver of the Commissioniht to seek to compel payment of any
remaining balance.

23. Injunctive and Equitable Relief: The injunctive and equitable relief

provisions of this Final Judgment dH@e binding upon Diendants and Relief
Defendants and upon any persai® are acting in the capacity of agent, officer,
employee, servant, attorney, successoi@ assign of Defendants and/or Relief
Defendants, and upon any pansacting in active conceot participation with
Defendants and/or Relief Bandants who receives actual notice of this Final
Judgment by personal service or otherwise.
24. Notices. All notices required to bgiven by any provision in this

Final Judgment shall be sent certifiedil@turn receipt requested, as follows:

Notice to the Commission:

Director of Enforcement

Commodity Futures Trading Commission
14
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Division of Enforcement
Three Lafayette Centre
1155 21st Street, NW

Washington, DC 20581

Notice to the Defendantsid/or Relief Defendants:

Ryan A. Nassbridges

Bita J. Nassbridges

American Bullion Exchange ABEX, Corp.
American Bullion Exchange, LLC

American Preferred Commodities APC Corp.
R.E. Lloyd Commodities Group Holdings LLC
30025 Alicia Pkwy,

PMB Box #219

Laguna Niguel, CA 92677

25. Change of Address’Phone: In the event thahere is an address

and/or telephone number change for anjeDdant or Relief Diendant, that party
shall provide written notice to the Commumsiby certified mail of any change to
their telephone number and gy address within tenlQ) calendar days of the
change.

26. Invalidation: If any provision of this Final Judgment or if the

application of any provision or circumstanséheld invalid, the remainder of this
Final Judgment and the application of the provisions to any other person or
circumstances shall not be affected by the holding.

27. Waiver: The failure of any party tthis Final Judgment or any pool
participant at any time or times to reguperformance of any provision hereof
shall in no manner affect the right of suchtpar pool participant at a later time tg

enforce the same or any other provisiohe$ Final Judgment. No waiver in one
15




© 00 N o g A~ w N PP

N N N N N DN DN NN R R R R R R R R B R
0o N o U~ WN P O ©W 0 N O 0N~ W N P O

or more instances of the breach of amyvsion contained in this Final Judgment
shall be deemed to be or construed as a further or continuing waiver of such b
or waiver of the breach of anyhar provision of this Final Judgment.

28. Continuing Jurisdiction of thisCourt: This Court shall retain

jurisdiction of this cause to assure cdiapce with this FineJudgment and for all
other purposes related to this actimetjuding any motion by Defendants and/or
Relief Defendants to modifyyr for relief, from the term of this Final Judgment.

There being no just reason for delthg Clerk of the Court is hereby
directed to enter this Final Judgmamid Order for Permanent Injunction, Civil
Monetary Penalty and @¢r Equitable Relief.

SO ORDERED this'8day of October, 2014.

At & Contor

U.S.District CourtJudge
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